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          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL RIGHTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Good morning,

          3  everyone. I'm Council Member Larry Seabrook, and I'm

          4  Chairperson of the New York City Council's Committee

          5  on Civil Rights. I would like to thank you all for

          6  coming today.

          7                 Today the Committee will consider

          8  proposed Resolution Number 693-A, calling on the

          9  Council of the City of New York to declare a

         10  symbolic moratorium on the use of the "N" word in

         11  New York City. The "N" word has been called one of

         12  the most offensive and inflammatory racial slurs in

         13  the English language. The word stems from the Latin

         14  and French roots for black, but its current English

         15  uses has been a part of America's society since 18th

         16  Century slavery. The "N" word has persisted as a

         17  term of hate for as long as American has been a

         18  nation.

         19                 The Committee is interested to hear

         20  testimony as to the need for New Yorkers to

         21  encourage New Yorkers to eliminate this term from

         22  their vocabularies. In the 20th Century, popular

         23  American Artists like Richard Pryor and Tupac Shakur

         24  popularized a derivative, more casual version of the

         25  "N" word, a form that can now be heard used by
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          2  people of every background in every borough of the

          3  City. Some people think that the "N" word in its

          4  original or more causal form can be reclaimed. They

          5  argue that a word can be cleansed of its previous

          6  meaning if enough people use it for a new purpose.

          7                 Others counter that to try to do this

          8  is simply degrading and ends up adding additional

          9  internalized pain to people already bearing the

         10  burden of the word's original malicious intent.

         11  We'll be exploring this issue in greater detail

         12  today.

         13                 Today, as we reflect on having

         14  celebrated Black History Month, this February, it

         15  seems especially appropriate to consider how we will

         16  treat each other moving towards in time and moving

         17  forward as a culture.

         18                 The Committee looks forward to some

         19  stimulating thoughtful testimony.

         20                 Again, I'd like to thank everyone for

         21  coming today, and I'd like to welcome my colleague,

         22  Council Member Leroy Comrie, in particular, from

         23  Queens, the prime sponsor of today's resolution, and

         24  invite him to make some opening remarks, and then we

         25  will be joined by other Council Members who are
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          2  attending other hearings and they will be coming in

          3  because we will be voting on this resolution today.

          4  So, Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

          6  Chairman Seabrook, and I want to thank you for

          7  holding this hearing today of the Subcommittee on

          8  Civil Rights to hear this resolution. I want to

          9  thank our Speaker Christine Quinn and Rob Newman and

         10  all of the Speaker staff, for allowing this

         11  Resolution to move forward. It's a symbolic

         12  moratorium, and I know that the desire to have

         13  resolutions move forward in this Council is really a

         14  unique situation, it's not something that's taken

         15  lightly anymore. The Resolution is now reviewed and

         16  vetted before it's brought out because it is an

         17  opportunity to express the meanings and sentiments

         18  of the body.

         19                 You know, given the recent events

         20  surrounding the Michael Riches's (phonetic) incident

         21  and the current campaign in many areas of the

         22  country to abolish this hateful term, I thought it

         23  was appropriate to encourage my fellow New Yorkers

         24  to join in this movement.

         25                 It was my hope that this Resolution,
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          2  which it has done, and I'm very prayerful and

          3  thankful that it has sparked a major dialogue

          4  throughout the country and begin to move our

          5  society, especially in our entertainment, towards a

          6  place where the use of the "N" word is simply

          7  unacceptable in any context.

          8                 I will propose this call for a

          9  moratorium during Black History Month this year in

         10  an effort to begin a dialogue that will reexamine

         11  this issue.

         12                 On any given day you could have

         13  traversed this City and encounter young people of

         14  all races casually using the word in public with no

         15  regard or knowledge of the terrible history behind

         16  it.

         17                 We, as adults, must begin to take a

         18  stand and say this is utterly wrong. I can't imagine

         19  a place where people simply went around casually

         20  spewing derogatory names about Jews, Asians,

         21  Latinos, Irish, Italians, any other ethnic group

         22  without being challenged or shamed. This moratorium

         23  simply represents my line in the sand.

         24                 I'm not prepared to go out any

         25  farther and not speak about this particular issue.
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          2  We need to work on reeducating our young people,

          3  taking back and reclaiming history, reclaiming the

          4  dignity of our people, the dignity of our struggle

          5  and it was my hope that by introducing this

          6  Resolution during Black History Month, and which has

          7  happened, we did also combine it with an essay

          8  contest, and we had over 80 middle schools that

          9  participated from around the City where we asked

         10  young people to talk about the meaning of the "N"

         11  word and what the "N" word meant to them.

         12                 I've been also heartened by the fact

         13  that the response to the legislation and the

         14  Resolution has been phenomenal from around the

         15  country. We've had other legislators, legislative

         16  bodies that have passed it. It's been passed in

         17  Westchester County, it's been passed in the New York

         18  State Senate, it's going to be passed in the New

         19  York State Assembly, there have been similar bills

         20  done in Texas. In fact, they had an ordinance in

         21  Texas, but they decided that they didn't want to

         22  take another opportunity to give the police an

         23  opportunity to harass young people, so they changed

         24  it from an ordinance to a resolution. It's been

         25  passed in many other municipalities, in three
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          2  municipalities in Jersey, other municipalities in

          3  Boston and all over the country, considering the

          4  use, passing the resolution. And it's really about

          5  education. I came to this because my district, I

          6  represent Southeast Queens, a district that contains

          7  downtown Jamaica Avenue, which is a major

          8  multi-modal bus, subway nexus, where at least 7,000

          9  young people, 7- to 12,000 young people every

         10  afternoon and every morning go back and forth to

         11  school, and just listening to them, especially since

         12  the Michael Riches's incident, realizing that

         13  they're using the word out of context, they're using

         14  the word without meaning, they're using the word

         15  without thought often times, that we need to

         16  re-educate and recapture those young people. Because

         17  while they think that because Tupac said it or

         18  because some Hip Hop artist is saying it, that they

         19  can use it, you know, I don't have a problem with

         20  people using it if they're using it for the full and

         21  genuine meaning of it, but not to try to use it as

         22  an adjective or an exclamation point or as to try to

         23  denote a friend or try to denote anything else than

         24  what the true meaning of the word is. It changes how

         25  people react to people, it changes how people react
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          2  to the situation around them, especially in the

          3  downtown Jamaica area, you find as young people are

          4  walking through the streets using this word, they're

          5  being classified even unbeknownst to them in a

          6  different category, because it's showing that they

          7  don't have their own self-awareness, they don't have

          8  an awareness of the history, their reasons why

          9  people are so -- why people do not want this word

         10  used, why this word has been used to subjugate

         11  people, to create a second-class citizen, it was

         12  used to justify slavery.

         13                 So, I'm here today, I want to thank

         14  my staff that actually came up with the idea of

         15  putting this to paper, because when I came into the

         16  office I was frustrated, my staff found the website

         17  abolishthenword.com and banthenword.com, and we

         18  looked at the website, especially the website with

         19  Jill and Kovon Flowers, they're focused on

         20  Education, they're focused on telling people what

         21  the real meaning of the word was, they're focused on

         22  trying to reeducate our people so that they can

         23  understand that that word cannot be a word that can

         24  be transformed into positive usage.

         25                 When you have a Thomas Minucci, or
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          2  other people or other cultures trying to use the

          3  word in a way that they believe is friendly, while

          4  they're inflicting pain on somebody, really, you

          5  know, there's a problem with the people

          6  understanding what the word means today, and how

          7  that word impacts people, and the emotional pain

          8  that people have to suffer when they hear that word.

          9                 So, we've had, I've been heartened by

         10  the phenomenal response from especially educators

         11  all over the City, we've had letters and e-mails,

         12  hundreds of e-mails coming in from people all around

         13  this City, different, especially schools that have

         14  adopted during this particular month, instead of

         15  just doing a regular Black History Month program,

         16  but talking about the reason why this word should

         17  not be used by young people. And we have to focus on

         18  our young people. We have to focus on re-educating

         19  people, and that is what the efforts of the Abolish

         20  The "N" Word Project and other people that have been

         21  working on this for many years to try to get this

         22  word taken back and having our young people, we

         23  connect with their own history, and their own

         24  positive parts of history and not use this word

         25  anymore.
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          2                 So, I want to thank Chairman Seabrook

          3  for his efforts today, and for allowing this hearing

          4  to take forth, take place -- excuse me, I'm fighting

          5  a cold and I'm trying to talk too long -- I'm just

          6  heartened and hope that, you know, we will continue

          7  the efforts, not just today, but in perpetuity to

          8  get the word out to reeducate anyone that's using

          9  this word, and any entity that is allowing this word

         10  to be used needs to be educated and outreached to

         11  because they are doing damage to our culture, doing

         12  damage to our society, by allowing this negative

         13  hate word to be perpetuated in our culture.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         16  much, Council Member Comrie. We've been joined by

         17  one of our Committee Members, Mr. Mike Nelson from

         18  Brooklyn, Council Member Nelson from Brooklyn.

         19                 We're going to start with our first

         20  from this panel, which would be Marcia Harris, and

         21  Kovon Flowers.

         22                 MR. FLOWERS: Good morning, Committee

         23  Council. My name is Kovon Flowers. I represent the

         24  organization Abolish the N-Word, and I have two

         25  testimonials here, one from myself, and as well as
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          2  my other Co-Founder, Jill Flowers.

          3                 Exactly one year ago today we sat in

          4  our car in Brooklyn listening to teenagers calling,

          5  on a radio show, doing a story on the "N" word.

          6  These kids from all different backgrounds shared one

          7  thing in common, the "N" word meant friend, home

          8  boy, a greeting to them, and was different from the

          9  "N" word we knew from the 1950s.

         10                 The ignorance we heard that night was

         11  enough to motivate us to start a campaign to abolish

         12  the "N" word. The campaign brought us into our

         13  community and into the New York City schools where

         14  we soon discovered it is not just a word we fight

         15  against, but a mentality. This mentality shows up

         16  when we don't go out to vote. This mentality shows

         17  up when we accept black-on-black crime as a norm.

         18                 This mentality shows up in health,

         19  education and alarming prison statistics. The

         20  symbolic moratorium, proposed by Councilman Leroy

         21  Comrie, is a powerful weapon in the fight against

         22  this mentality signifying it is time to speak life

         23  into the black community instead of death.

         24                 Since the Abolish The N-Word Campaign

         25  started, I find myself becoming more and more
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          2  passionate about the state of our young black men. I

          3  have found that too many young men are asleep and

          4  don't want more for themselves.

          5                 I was once caught up in the ignorance

          6  of the street mentality and I used the "N" word. It

          7  wasn't until I began to read African American

          8  History that I realized I had a responsibility to

          9  myself and my community, that is to continue what my

         10  ancestors have passed on, to be a role model is what

         11  I have discovered changes our community.

         12                 NBA stars and rappers have been the

         13  only role models for far too long. The symbolic

         14  resolution will be a start for parents, teachers and

         15  family to take their rightful place as the role

         16  model in their children's lives.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 MS. HARRIS: Good morning, Council.

         19  We, at Ban The N-Word, would like to thank

         20  Councilman Comrie for his symbolic moratorium on the

         21  "N" word, and all of the other organizations that

         22  are trying to educate people on the historical

         23  context of this word.

         24                 I'd like to share a few quotes from

         25  scholars on the "N" word. Dr. Wade Nobles on the
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          2  power of words: "The hearing of the word creates

          3  energy, creates heat...Take care in what we say to

          4  each other...If we call each other nigger, we are

          5  creating the evolution of our destruction."

          6                 Dr. Fances Welsing on her functional

          7  definition of the word nigger: "Any and all use of

          8  the word, 'Nigger(s),' whether it is used by a White

          9  person or a Black person (or shade of Black), no

         10  matter in what context or in what-so-ever tone of

         11  voice, translates into the following statement:

         12  'Consciously or subconsciously, I am helping to

         13  maintain the local, national, global system of

         14  Racism (White Supremacy)."

         15                 I'd like to share some ethnic

         16  derogatory terms: KIKE, HOOKNOSE, CLIPPED DICK -

         17  that's a Jewish derogatory term; SPIC, WETBACK -

         18  Latinos (Hispanic); CHINK, GOOK, SLANT EYE -

         19  Chinese, Japanese, (Asians); CRACKER, PECKERWOOD,

         20  BLUE-EYED DEVIL, HONKY - Caucasian, White (Gentile);

         21  WOP, DAGO - Italians; MICK - Irish.

         22                 There is no other racial derogatory

         23  slur that offends like the "N" word. This word is

         24  rooted in the historical make-up of this country,

         25  the United States of America, where it was used by
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          2  one group of people, white people, in an attempt to

          3  completely dehumanize another group of people,

          4  Africans, black people, to maintain and justify a

          5  system of chattel slavery, slave, free-human labor,

          6  that is the root cause of America being what it is

          7  today, which is the most powerful nation in the

          8  world. Chattel slavery made this possible.

          9                 When the most inhuman atrocities were

         10  being committed against black people, raping women

         11  and children, torturing, maiming, murdering, medical

         12  experimentation, breaking up families, breeding

         13  humans, selling, auctioning humans, constant

         14  terrorism and psychological warfare to maintain a

         15  system of slavery here in America, then the Jim Crow

         16  era of the lynch mobs, which included a large number

         17  of people from government and law enforcement

         18  agencies, from all levels of politicians to

         19  deputies, sheriffs, cops, et cetera, who

         20  participated in lynching, castrating and burning

         21  human beings at the stake, as well as distributing,

         22  selling body parts and sending postcards of pictures

         23  of burned, hanging dead people, and this was all

         24  done with the "N" word being used to accent those

         25  horrendous acts.
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          2                 These inhumane atrocities committed

          3  against the black people by the white people were

          4  mental, physical and spiritual abuse through force,

          5  torture, as well as, actual and implied, threats. No

          6  other group of people experienced this by the

          7  hundreds of millions, starting from when we were

          8  stolen from Africa, the Middle Passage. Thus, no,

          9  there is no other racial slur that stands in the

         10  same category as the "N" word here in the United

         11  States of America, because it is at the foundation

         12  of this country's inception. America's pathology is

         13  racism, again, with the "N" word to accent that

         14  history.

         15                 The BN-W campaign that was started in

         16  -- was started in 2004 to put an end to the

         17  widespread acceptance and use of this insulting,

         18  derogatory, degrading, demeaning, malicious,

         19  venomous, debilitating, and self-defeating word. And

         20  for the record, a term of endearment, it is not. The

         21  use of the "N" word is a passively slick form of

         22  psychological, social and mental and spiritual

         23  abuse. It's unfathomable, but many people have

         24  actually become immune to hearing the "N" word, and

         25  that's not good at all. The "N" word's sole purpose
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          2  then and now is to dehumanize Africans, Black

          3  people.

          4                 We can simply and quickly be

          5  described as individuals who just got tired and fed

          6  up with the passive acceptance, code of silence,

          7  nonchalance, and the there's nothing we can do about

          8  it attitude from way too many educators,

          9  professionals, entertainers, and just your average

         10  citizen about the constant use of the "N" word. Has

         11  the overwhelming use of this word really empowered

         12  anyone or taken the power out of its oppressive

         13  origins for such complacency?

         14                 Well, let's ask some basic questions

         15  about the entertainment industry, specifically rap

         16  since its "N" word usage is internationally known,

         17  and thus heard and influenced around the globe.

         18  (And, no, we're not blaming it all on rap.) Has rap,

         19  hip-hop empowered anyone? Do those videos empower

         20  the rappers? How about the women in the videos, have

         21  they been empowered? Can we agree that many kids

         22  listen to rap, hip-hop music a lot and are greatly

         23  influenced by it, its trends, its fad and its

         24  culture of "cool". How has this influence empowered

         25  American children overall in school? Has anyone,
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          2  children, teens, adults, learned anything recently

          3  about ancient African history thrown into a

          4  mainstream or popular rap hip-hop song?

          5                 You have some Africans, black people,

          6  who try to defend its use with these six myths:

          7                 Myth Number 1, it's our word. You're

          8  absolutely correct. It is a word that was created to

          9  dehumanize us. When we were stolen from Africa and

         10  brought to the shores of the Americas, unspeakable

         11  atrocities were committed against our ancestors. In

         12  an attempt to comprehend what the enslavers were

         13  doing to the Africans - raping, torturing, selling,

         14  auctioning, medical experimentations, breeding,

         15  maiming, murdering was so extensive that they had to

         16  mentally find a way to justify those cruel actions,

         17  so the dehumanizing process began. In addition to a

         18  host of other names, nigger was the one that was

         19  surely on the lips of everyone trying to justify

         20  treating a thinking, living human being like

         21  chattel.

         22                 Myth Number 2: First Amendment Right.

         23  Freedom of Speech. Reformed "N" word abuser Paul

         24  Mooney said when he hosted an event for Abolish the

         25  N-Word at the Laugh Factory "it's not about freedom
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          2  of speech, it's about freedom." Meaning physical

          3  freedom from the shackles is one thing, now we have

          4  to free our minds to be independent, critical

          5  thinkers. We're a creative people, we can choose an

          6  empowering word that stands for empowerment, the "N"

          7  word does not.

          8                 Myth Number 3. We have more important

          9  things to think about than to focus on a word. We,

         10  at BN-W, want to say to all those people that until

         11  there is self-respect, pride and dignity, all those

         12  other things will be for naught, if at the core you

         13  see yourself and others who look like you as a

         14  nigger - a word used to dehumanize a living,

         15  thinking human being. You will be self-defeated.

         16                 Myth Number 4. Words have no power.

         17  When you see a sign that says "No Niggers or Dogs

         18  Allowed," what do you think that does to the psyche

         19  of a living, thinking human being, to be placed in

         20  the same category as a dog? No, words absolutely do

         21  have power.

         22                 How do you think lynch mobs were

         23  mobilized to attack black men, women and children

         24  with the power of words and of course, usually the

         25  words, however false, were: A white woman was raped.
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          2                 Myth Number 5. The meaning has

          3  changed. It's different now. You'll never be able to

          4  change the way people think of it today.

          5                 Conscientiousness, consciousness,

          6  along with re-educating and enlightenment when

          7  acknowledged can always defeat and outsmart

          8  ignorance, and thus bring empowerment. Never believe

          9  or fall for the marketing of the concept that

         10  ignorance, miseducation, and misinformation can

         11  combat or overcome intellect and intelligence,

         12  whether learned early, midway or later in life, we

         13  can and should always make a change for the better,

         14  especially when the path has been cleared. No one

         15  should be immune to improvement. Don't we all have

         16  room for growth and development, including

         17  culturally and educationally?

         18                 Myth Number 6. You do have some

         19  people who act like and are niggers. Drs. David

         20  Pilgrim and Phillip Middelton both of Ferris State

         21  University stated it well in their Jim Crow Museum

         22  of Racist Memorabilia a piece titled "Nigger and

         23  Caricature: "The word nigger carries with it much of

         24  the hatred and repulsion directed toward Africans

         25  and African Americans. Historically, nigger defined,
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          2  limited, and mocked African Americans. It was a term

          3  of exclusion, a verbal justification for

          4  discrimination. Whether used as a noun, verb, or

          5  adjective, it reinforced the stereotype of the lazy,

          6  stupid, dirty, worthless parasite. No other American

          7  ethnophaulism carried so much purposeful venom.

          8                 "Nigger was and remains a term of

          9  derision. Moreover, the false dichotomy between

         10  blacks or African Americans (respectable and middle

         11  class) and niggers (disrespectable and lower class)

         12  should be opposed. No blacks are niggers,

         13  irrespective of behavior, income, ambition,

         14  clothing, ability, morals, or skin color.

         15                 Finally, if continued use of the word

         16  lessened its sting then nigger would by now have no

         17  sting. Blacks, beginning in slavery, have

         18  internalized the negative images that white society

         19  cultivated and propagated about black skin and black

         20  people. This is reflected in periods of self and

         21  same-race loathing. The use of the word nigger by

         22  blacks reflects this loathing, even when the user is

         23  unaware of the psychological forces at play. Nigger

         24  is the ultimate expression of white racism and white

         25  superiority, irrespective of the way it is
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          2  pronounced. It is a linguistic corruption, a

          3  corruption of civility. Nigger is the most infamous

          4  word in American culture."

          5                 And it's easy when you have an

          6  educational system that doesn't teach true world

          7  history, that the creators of civilization and the

          8  sciences, mathematics, engineering, philosophy,

          9  astronomy, et cetera, were Africans, black human

         10  beings. When you don't know your history, you're

         11  able to believe anything anybody says about you.

         12  That's why history is the tool to knowing who you

         13  are, where you are and where you're going. As we can

         14  see, without true history we're all headed on a

         15  downward spiral. While one group may not know much

         16  about their history, another group is greatly

         17  misinformed about theirs.

         18                 No other people experienced the

         19  filtering out of their weakest like our ancestors

         20  who were stolen from Africa and brought to the

         21  so-called New World, meaning the Caribbean, North

         22  and South Americas, which later became known as the

         23  Americas. During the Middle Passage all of the weak

         24  and sick died, the ones who survived were the

         25  strongest: the DNA that runs through our blood is
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          2  the DNA from the strongest Africans who survived the

          3  horrendous conditions of the Middle Passage, then to

          4  arrive in a country with treatment that was even

          5  worse than the Middle Passage - raping, murdering,

          6  selling, breeding, medical experimentations,

          7  auctioning, physical and psychological abuse to

          8  break your spirit so you could forget where you came

          9  from. Guess what? We're still here, and that alone

         10  is testament to our spirit and our strength as human

         11  beings. Looking at what we survived and what we're

         12  surviving today with all the systematic strategic,

         13  negative images we're constantly bombarded with.

         14                 We have a few questions:

         15                 Since the media plays such a crucial

         16  part in the reporting, marketing of images, who are

         17  the owners and executive upper management of the

         18  major mainstream media - network television, cable,

         19  newspapers, magazines?

         20                 Since education is also crucial, who

         21  are the administrators responsible for putting the

         22  curriculum together from kindergarten through 12th

         23  grade and then who has primary control at the

         24  college through post graduate level in deciding

         25  what's an elective versus mandatory, especially when
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          2  it comes to world history; and since entertainment

          3  is another crucial part of the American way or

          4  lifestyle, again, who are the owners,

          5  executive/upper management, and marketing teams that

          6  decide how to best market/promote their talent for

          7  maximum profit? Why is the historical context of the

          8  "N" word overwhelmingly downplayed in the media?

          9  Why is this word not shunned by educators when used

         10  in schools and why is the history of this word as it

         11  relates to African enslavement in America primarily

         12  not taught through the education system? Why do the

         13  owners and executive upper management allow this one

         14  particular well-known derogatory slang term, that

         15  was used to dehumanize Africans and keep chattel

         16  slavery in force, to be mass marketed on an

         17  international level within the entertainment

         18  industry? Here's a perfect example of a high profile

         19  case that got immediate action and results to have a

         20  derogatory slang term removed from all future

         21  distributions. Michael Jackson was told to redo is

         22  song They Don't Care About Us because he used a

         23  Jewish derogatory term "Kike." Why would that word

         24  get a force removal, yet, somehow the "N" word use

         25  through music, song, dance and comedy gets the green
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          2  light for free-reign use and international

          3  marketing? Who in the entertainment industry decides

          4  to selectively choose which derogatory term gets to

          5  be mass marketed on an international level and which

          6  ones will be completely kept out of all forms of

          7  media, education, entertainment?

          8                 Who, in the educational field,

          9  decides it's okay for students to walk around the

         10  school halls and classes using the "N" word with no

         11  consequences, and who decides that teaching the

         12  history of this word and all that's associated with

         13  it is not to be done.

         14                 Who in the media decides to primarily

         15  report the negative images associated with the use

         16  of the word that ironically results from this

         17  mis-education through this very educational system

         18  along with the marketing tactics utilized through

         19  the entertainment industry to promote this negative

         20  image?

         21                 These are critical questions that

         22  need to be answered, and then the reasons analyzed

         23  and then from there we will all know how to proceed.

         24                 This is the do you know challenge to

         25  everyone including entertainers.
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          2                 Do you know, since the "N" word is

          3  being intentionally mass marketed on an

          4  international level and the educational system

          5  intentionally miseducates and misinforms, we have a

          6  challenge for those staunch and quasi-supporters and

          7  users of the "N" word?

          8                 Do you know who or what Ausar, Auset,

          9  Heru are?

         10                 Do you know who or what Imhotep is?

         11                 Do you know who or what Kemet,

         12  Tekhen, Medu Neter are?

         13                 Do you know who or what Hapi is?

         14                 Do you know what the Middle Passage

         15  is? What the Triangular Trade is? What's in Giza?

         16                 If you don't know all of the answers

         17  to these questions, yet you listen to and engulf

         18  yourself with the energy of entertainers who

         19  excessively and unnecessarily use the "N" word, and

         20  you've gone through, or are going through, an

         21  educational system that has taught you none of these

         22  things, then there you have it, you should not be

         23  using the "N" word because you've not learned some

         24  of the fundamentals of world history.

         25                 Since it's always been said that
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          2  Blacks and Jews have a lot in common, BN-W would

          3  like to ask the question: why is it that the

          4  American children learn of the Jewish holocaust that

          5  took place in Europe for 12 years with all of the

          6  atrocities that occurred. And the American children

          7  have no knowledge of the African holocaust also

          8  known as the Maafa that was 2456 years of chattel

          9  slavery, 100 plus years of Jim Crowism right here,

         10  on this soil, the United States of America with all

         11  of the atrocities - raping women and children,

         12  torturing, maiming, murdering, medical

         13  experimentations, breaking up families, breeding

         14  humans, selling, auctioning humans, constant

         15  terrorism --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: You've got to

         17  kind of bring it in.

         18                 MS. HARRIS: This is the end.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay.

         20                 MS. HARRIS:... Constant terrorism and

         21  psychological warfare that, by the way, some of

         22  which still exists today more covertly, with a few

         23  examples, including the blatant miseducation through

         24  lack of the actual world history being taught,

         25  police brutality, stop and frisk, and the high rate
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          2  of black men in prison for minor crimes under the

          3  Rockefeller drug laws?

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I want to

          7  thank you both for coming. Don't leave. I want to

          8  thank you both for coming. Kovon's wife is Jill, who

          9  is expecting any day now, so we did not want her to

         10  come out on such a sloppy and slippery day, and I

         11  just want to thank you both, especially Jill and

         12  Kovon, for everything they've been doing to go out

         13  and do the educational expressions and classes and

         14  tutoring and mentoring to people. And I just want to

         15  thank you for your diligence and your efforts to try

         16  to make sure that the people get educated.

         17                 You know, as the curriculum has been

         18  forceably changed by the fact that it's not a major

         19  part of any test now, your depth of civil rights

         20  history, it's been a diminution of time and focus on

         21  clearly teaching civil rights in school. You know,

         22  one of the reasons why I wanted to do this

         23  resolution was that hopefully have more opportunity

         24  to discuss it in an educational context. So, we are

         25  here today to salute you, to thank you, to encourage
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          2  you to keep up your efforts, focusing on what needs

          3  to be done to really reach back to our children and

          4  let them know the negative connotations of the work.

          5  I just wanted to thank you.

          6                 Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 I guess a couple of questions that I

         10  wanted to ask, one is Webster's dictionary has the

         11  definition of what a "nigger" is. Has anybody dealt

         12  with Webster and the publishing companies as it

         13  relates to, they have defined what a nigger is and

         14  it's in and a part of these dictionaries, older

         15  versions still in existence, still on school

         16  campuses, and when you look at it, it talks about

         17  what a nigger is; so has that been dealt with?

         18                 MS. HARRIS: Well, Attorney Roy Miller

         19  dealt with it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Oh, okay.

         21                 And the other question, in 1967, I

         22  read a book that was entitled Nigger by Dick

         23  Gregory; has anybody had a comment or a response

         24  from Dick Gregory as it relates to his book that's

         25  still on the shelf that's called Nigger?
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          2                 MS. HARRIS: No.

          3                 MR. FLOWERS: No. Not that I know of,

          4  no.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And in 1971 I

          6  read a book Die, Nigger Die by Ralph Brown; has

          7  anybody dealt with that, and it's on the shelf?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Mr. Chair, we

          9  haven't gone after individual artists regarding

         10  this. This is really about re-educating children.

         11                 Again, as I said earlier, people that

         12  use the word in its full historical context are in a

         13  creative means to talk about issues regarding how

         14  people have been treated, you know, we haven't gone

         15  after.

         16                 But if you look at just this month

         17  the Grammys, they had every Grammy nominated song

         18  that contained the "N" word. So, we are looking

         19  after industry, as opposed to going after

         20  individuals. Now, we are looking at going after BET,

         21  because in the series The Wire, they deleted every

         22  expletive from the BET version, not the HBO version,

         23  but they left the "N" word in. So, we're going after

         24  industry. Creative expression, people who use the

         25  word in its original context, you know, we haven't
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          2  gone after people that are trying to recreate the

          3  word is the issue in trying to talk to people about

          4  the educational and the historical context of the

          5  word.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: That's why I'm

          7  raising the issue that there has to be a level of

          8  historic context of how it was applied, and even

          9  today one of the writers for the Daily News, Stanley

         10  Crouch has a piece entitled "Ain't No Ambulances For

         11  No Niggers Tonight."

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Has anybody

         14  responded and raised these issues? So, this is what

         15  I'm saying, the historical context, so that they

         16  will understand its usage and how it has

         17  surrealitivity in dealing with this issue, and that

         18  it's there and how it's done.

         19                 You know, I grew up in a segregated

         20  society and I thought that was my first name by some

         21  people. So, I think that historically we have to

         22  begin to look at this, and I understand your point

         23  of view, there needs to be some discussion as it

         24  relates to that. Because the same people that say

         25  that the kids did, and I hear what you're saying
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          2  about the kids, and they say well that's a term of

          3  endearment, I told them next time they see a police

          4  officer, white police officer, who stops them, say

          5  what's up my nigger? and that will solve the problem

          6  then and there. It will end it. Because obviously it

          7  ain't a term of endearment and he will be very clear

          8  about it, even if there was a white kid that said it

          9  to him.

         10                 So, I would just hope that with this

         11  it's good, but I think that we need to have a sense

         12  to deal with institutions that allow this and

         13  certainly people who are here to be talking about a

         14  response. These are the people that are still alive,

         15  all of them that have written these books are alive

         16  and well and there should be some response as it

         17  relates to this.

         18                 MR. FLOWERS: Well, from what I do

         19  know, a lot of times they use it in that form, you

         20  know, express it in a historical content. As far as

         21  what we do, when we talk to the kids, we explain

         22  that to them. Because like you said, it needs to be

         23  instilled to where they have the idea of the

         24  historical content. So, definitely that's what we do

         25  prior to us getting, you know, reconnecting them
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          2  with the history, educational form and curriculum.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Council Member

          4  Nelson.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair. I want to thank you, Chairman Seabrook, and

          7  Chairman Comrie, for bringing this issue to the

          8  fore.

          9                 I suppose a personal story might be

         10  in order. I was in the Air Force in Arkansas in the

         11  late sixties, and I had a date with a co-ed, was

         12  fixed up, and in the course of the conversation she

         13  used the word nigger, and she said it again, and I

         14  was grimacing, was like this, and she said, well,

         15  obviously you don't like what I'm saying, and her

         16  quote was, I'll never forget, "well, they may be

         17  Negros to y'all, but they're niggers to me." Like

         18  Negros was obviously okay to say, you know, they

         19  were Negros. Which is I think part of the point of

         20  this all. The fact that she was saying they were

         21  niggers to me was a derogatory, obviously. And the

         22  proliferation of this word is not healthy. And

         23  anyway, that was a sobering, sickening, depressing

         24  and scary situation I was in, I was thrust down into

         25  Arkansas for the first time in my life coming from
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          2  New York.

          3                 You know, races use it as an excuse

          4  to, as you know. This is part of the problem. They

          5  call each other that. It's a theater of the absurd

          6  to make that analogy to begin with, but it's an

          7  insult. It's derogatory, other ethnic slurs that the

          8  lady described very well, and I wish we could wipe

          9  it out, but at least we can do what we're doing.

         10  Leadership demands this. And it's not right, it's

         11  not cool, it's repulsive and it's potentially

         12  dangerous and it has been very dangerous, not just

         13  potentially through the years.

         14                 So, I'm glad we put this on the

         15  record in the New York City Council, and I

         16  appreciate your testifying, and, again, the chairs

         17  for bringing this issue out.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         20  much, Councilman. Thank you all very much for your

         21  testimony.

         22                 MR. FLOWERS: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Attorney Roy

         24  Miller.  Did we get a copy? Did she have a copy of

         25  the testimony?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Ms. Harris,

          3  Marcia, can you give the Sergeant-At-Arms your copy

          4  so we can make copies of your testimony, please?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

          6  much, Attorney. You can state your name.

          7                 MR. MILLER: Yes, I'm Attorney Roy

          8  Miller from Atlanta, Georgia.

          9                 I'd like to first thank God for

         10  allowing me to be a part in making a difference. I

         11  would also like to thank this distinguished New York

         12  City Council and Council Member Leroy Comrie for

         13  this invitation to address this great Council.

         14                 In 1994, I was successful in having

         15  the "N" word deleted from Funk and Wagnall's

         16  dictionary. My effort was on behalf of children, the

         17  innocent ones that get hit by the rocks of hate

         18  thrown into crowds by adults. Adults debate "N" word

         19  usage from an adult perspective. It is innocent

         20  black children whose feelings get hurt the most.

         21  They look up the word, not adults. They look into

         22  dictionaries and see a definition of description

         23  that points back at them. An innocent black child

         24  could never be an "N" word. At its worse, the "N"

         25  word is the ultimate form of disrespect against
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          2  blacks. It is simply profanity.

          3                 Most cuss words have many

          4  pronunciations and spellings. No matter how you

          5  pronounce the "N" word or spell it, we still know

          6  what you mean. The "N" word has never been a

          7  medicine. It has always been a poison. A poisonous

          8  snake begging to be petted and taken lightly. No,

          9  the "N" word has never been a friend; always an

         10  enemy. It could never be a term of endearment. It's

         11  like taking a picture of a lynched slave lady and

         12  trying to convince people that they can get joy from

         13  watching the picture and even laugh at the slave.

         14  Such a picture could never be endearing and neither

         15  can the "N" word ever be a term of endearment.

         16                 Perhaps God considers, after being

         17  exposed to 400 years of slavery and around 100 years

         18  of segregation, what did we learn? Why do we fight

         19  so hard to give away the respect that we never had

         20  to earn?

         21                 Some musicians take their 20 pieces

         22  of silver, and disrespectfully shout out the "N"

         23  word. The "N" word is the very word that accompanies

         24  so much hate. The "N" word is a friend of hate, a

         25  friend of slavery, a friend of segregation, and a
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          2  friend of discrimination. It accompanied death in

          3  all its low-down deeds during slavery and

          4  segregation. As it has worn out welcome by other

          5  races, some blacks get pleasure from picking up that

          6  snake and playing with it.

          7                 When I hear the "N" word, I see a

          8  beautiful black baby that grew old in life and died

          9  and was called the "N" word lifelong. When I hear

         10  the "N" word, I see an aging black woman giving

         11  birth to the master's child and both mother and

         12  child being called "N" words. I see a black father

         13  lynched for trying to protect his little girl from

         14  being raped and both being called "N" words.

         15                 Why do we fight for the right to call

         16  our innocent babies "N" words? Why do we fight for

         17  the right to have others refer to our children as

         18  "N" words? Our babies are children of God. Would

         19  not such reference to the child also refer to the

         20  father? Do we not owe anything to our ancestors that

         21  endured so much pain and lost so many lives, so that

         22  we could live with dignity and with respect? I guess

         23  if it doesn't reach the heart, it really doesn't

         24  matter.

         25                 Around the world in every country, in
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          2  every society and in every group two things have

          3  always been certain; they are, those that demand

          4  respect are always on top, and those that accept

          5  disrespect are always on the bottom. At its worst

          6  the "N" word is the ultimate term of disrespect

          7  against blacks.

          8                 Let's not seal the fate of the

          9  people, especially our innocent black children, by

         10  conditioning them to accept disrespect.

         11                 I ask that you vote to pass this

         12  resolution calling on the Council of the City of New

         13  York to declare a symbolic moratorium on the use of

         14  the "N" word in New York. Show to the world that New

         15  York has a heart and will not tolerate disrespect. I

         16  thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         18  much, Mr. Miller. A couple of questions that perhaps

         19  we can ask.

         20                 The previous individuals had stated

         21  that there were justifications or some sense of

         22  people saying whether it's our word; could you

         23  respond to that?

         24                 MR. MILLER: The "N" word is the

         25  ultimate insult against blacks. It's profanity. It
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          2  does not matter if you are joking when you use

          3  profanity or if you're being angry or mean.

          4  Profanity is still profanity. It should never be

          5  encouraged, it should never be acceptable language

          6  used by children.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And then there

          8  was the issue of it's freedom of speech and it's a

          9  part of speech and artists and everyone else use it

         10  and this is a part of the fundamental rights of an

         11  American to have this freedom; what's your response?

         12                 MR. MILLER: Freedom of speech does

         13  not apply to a parent's right to raise his child. A

         14  parent should not contribute to the delinquency of a

         15  minor. It's a parent's duty to raise the child.

         16  There are laws in school systems against using

         17  profanity around children. When grown-ups rappers

         18  use the "N" word, they are tossing rocks into a

         19  crowd. A lot of those rocks are hitting innocent

         20  young children. They know that. But of course,

         21  money, what people will do for money is shameful.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And then there

         23  is the question that's raised, well, it's just a

         24  word, it really has no power, what's your response?

         25                 MR. MILLER: Well, I think that men
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          2  think that we are masses of words, but they should

          3  remember that man didn't make words, words made man.

          4  And they can't say words existed before we existed.

          5  God spoke words into creation. So, when a tear comes

          6  to a person's eye, some people can't understand why

          7  does it hurt? Why does it hurt? Why does

          8  black-on-black crime hurt when we hear about it, and

          9  we see articles in the paper where some innocent

         10  father was gunned down because somebody wanted a

         11  chain or something that he had. And people can do

         12  cruel things, and I have found the reason they can't

         13  relate is if it doesn't reach the heart, it really

         14  doesn't matter. And people can do anything to each

         15  other.

         16                 So, what I tried to do is, I've been

         17  fighting this fight since 1994 when I had the word

         18  taken out of the Funk and Wagnall dictionary. I was

         19  in Baltimore and argued to have the resolution there

         20  passed back in 2004. And you know, I try to talk

         21  with young people and encourage them not to

         22  disrespect themselves because disrespect has only

         23  one destiny, and that's down.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And your move

         25  to remove the word from Funk and Wagnall, and as I
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          2  indicated earlier, Webster and others have

          3  continued, maybe, I don't know, maybe they have not

          4  done that, but I know that it has been a part of the

          5  dictionary in Webster and others, why haven't it

          6  just been a universal removal of this word from the

          7  dictionary, total, other than just Funk and Wagnall?

          8                 MR. MILLER: Our approach more than

          9  Funk and Wagnall's, Funk and Wagnall's had enough

         10  class and wanted to do right that they put it in

         11  writing, they were saying that I should be -- my

         12  niece, whom I started it because she saw it in the

         13  dictionary, that when they said your niece should

         14  really be proud of you. I contacted other

         15  dictionaries. What I like about Funk and Wagnall is

         16  they didn't have to put it in writing, they didn't

         17  have to leave it in, they took it out. Other

         18  dictionaries I see made some changes since then, but

         19  I did contact them. Most of the definitions pretty

         20  much said the "N" word was dark-skinned persons,

         21  said Negro, which is putting rocks into a crowd, but

         22  some of those rocks are hitting children who can

         23  never be an "N" word, really didn't give a

         24  definition, gave a description. And it really is so

         25  close to defamation for books to put definitions in
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          2  that could never apply to innocent black children,

          3  but it includes them in the definition. It does not

          4  distinguish.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And lastly, how

          6  do we address the issue, some of America's renown

          7  writers and those who are from the south use it as

          8  if it's a part of their language in their books, and

          9  it's a part of the required course reading in some

         10  of America's literature that some of these great

         11  writers use the word "nigger" constantly in their

         12  writing. Some of these guys who have won Pulitzer

         13  prizes and scholars that we talk about in these

         14  institutions; how do we address and deal with that

         15  issue?

         16                 MR. MILLER: Well, we hear curse words

         17  like "MF SOB" used in the same books. They're not

         18  acceptable. I mean, just because you use profanity,

         19  it doesn't make it right. Grown folks, adults, use

         20  their own discretion of how and when to use the

         21  word, and my main concern is children. It's being

         22  forced on children. They don't have a choice. For

         23  adults to look out for making this world safe for

         24  them. And, you know, we've got to be careful. We

         25  want to give our young people something good,
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          2  something healthy where they can grow. Young people

          3  love, they start out so little and they think this

          4  world is all about love and everyone likes them, and

          5  grown-ups, I think there should be some shame of not

          6  only what they say, but what they do around

          7  children. And I think that when I remember a time

          8  when you did not cuss around grown-ups, you didn't

          9  use the "N" word around grown-ups, you would get a

         10  shoe thrown at you or something. You just didn't do

         11  that. There was too much respect. We love teachers,

         12  we love principals, we bought gifts for Christmas,

         13  we had so much respect, there was so much dignity

         14  and integrity, and that's what I would really like

         15  to get back to and never let a child feel that it's

         16  okay to use profanity.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, the issue

         18  as it relates to children, I agree with you, because

         19  when you're dealing with children, there is no such

         20  thing as color, because children do look at things

         21  as love and my friend, and everything else, and

         22  that's how they identify. But would you say that

         23  there should be, the use of this word around young

         24  people could be a part of dealing with some sense of

         25  punishment that has to be mentored out of child
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          2  abuse, if we decided to say we can't use profanity,

          3  and we made this word as a part of profanity, then

          4  people who use it around children could actually be

          5  a part of child abuse.

          6                 MR. MILLER: Well, the dictionaries

          7  say that it's profanity and obscene. So, I agree

          8  with that. I think that we force this word on

          9  children, you know, it need to be stopped, and

         10  grown-ups should not be encouraged. I hear people in

         11  the rap industry using the word quite a lot, and

         12  they know that a lot of the people listening to

         13  their music are young people and children. We don't

         14  want to encourage people to do bad things. And there

         15  is no other word as insulting as the "N" word at its

         16  worst. If you can get a person to accept the worst,

         17  how can you insult that person after that? What else

         18  can you call them? There needs to be a line that you

         19  draw to say you've got to give me respect, you dare

         20  not cross this line.

         21                 I don't care how good the feeling is,

         22  I guess it's just like drinking a soda, you just get

         23  a good feeling because it does nothing else for you

         24  to use the "N" word, but the harm that it does once

         25  it's out there, it's a rock that you just threw out
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          2  there, all because it felt so good coming out, and

          3  it's got to stop.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And lastly,

          5  just a point, how do we deal with this issue of, I

          6  was listening to two young white teenagers and they

          7  identified themselves as "come here, nigger" to each

          8  other. And they say well that's what they say.

          9                 MR. MILLER: Well, you know, it is

         10  like playing with a snake that you know is

         11  poisonous. If you want to pick it up and play with

         12  it, you do it at your own discretion and at your own

         13  risk because it can bite.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 MR. MILLER: All right. Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes, thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Council Member

         20  Comrie.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I want to

         22  thank you for coming, Attorney Miller. Can you just

         23  talk to us about how you were able to convince Funk

         24  and Wagnall's to remove the word, in detail?

         25                 MR. MILLER: Yes. Well, the word as
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          2  defined could never apply to -- of course, my niece

          3  brought it to my attention, 13 years old, and she

          4  had heard the word in the wrong way and she was

          5  really hurt by it, and she had a new set of Funk and

          6  Wagnall's dictionary, new edition, and looking at

          7  the word I knew that it could never apply to

          8  innocent black children who had done nothing to

          9  nobody. So, I approached them with an argument and

         10  really said that I was getting ready to file a

         11  lawsuit, which I was ready to do, and gave a certain

         12  date to, you know, have the word taken out,

         13  something done with it, and they had heart.

         14                 What I like about Funk and Wagnall's

         15  is they could have just taken the word out and said

         16  nothing. But I knew that they had heart and they

         17  understood what I was saying, you know, the cause

         18  that I was fighting for, because they acknowledged

         19  it. So, I want them to feel that they are heroes in

         20  what they did also.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But you

         22  actually went and met with them and you had --

         23                 MR. MILLER: Well, I communicated

         24  with, communications with the Vice President.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And when you
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          2  threatened them with a lawsuit, how long did it take

          3  for them to turn around and get back to you?

          4                 MR. MILLER: You know, I had a

          5  deadline on it, and I want to think it was about 30

          6  days, I don't want to guess specific dates and be

          7  wrong, but they did prior to that time limit, they

          8  responded and I was happy.

          9                 At the time I was doing it simply for

         10  mostly children, because I feel like adults in a way

         11  sometimes you give up on grown people, you know,

         12  because you can't stop them from doing wrong things,

         13  but hopefully you think that the next generation of

         14  children, there is a chance, that if you can have an

         15  impact on them, it will make a difference.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay, and had

         17  you talked about or thought about going at other

         18  dictionaries or to companies with the same type of

         19  lawsuit?

         20                 MR. MILLER: I have been in

         21  communication with sending information to other

         22  companies.

         23                 In 1994, I think it was even before

         24  all that rap with the "N" word and everything, and I

         25  knew then that it was going to be a problem. I
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          2  didn't know it at the time, but I felt like that had

          3  planted a seed that would grow later on. And you

          4  know, I have spoke, I have gone to many schools,

          5  high schools, colleges, radio interviews around the

          6  country, and just doing what I can. I'm a one-person

          7  show. But I feel like even though what I do is

          8  almost like having a forest fire and all you have is

          9  a cup to deal the water. I feel like every little

         10  bit helps and I think sometimes God look and he just

         11  wants to observe your heart, and at some point he

         12  may say I've seen enough.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I want to

         14  thank you for all of your efforts and you're doing

         15  this because your children are -- as I'm a father

         16  with two young children also, which is one of the

         17  reasons why I wanted to put this resolution forward.

         18                 You know, I have a daughter in Junior

         19  High School and that's the time when they're most

         20  acceptable to being bombarded with imagery and fads

         21  or trends, it's when they start to become aware of

         22  -- actually it's a little earlier now and that's

         23  when we start to become aware of looking a certain

         24  way and doing and acting a certain way and doing

         25  certain things. So, how old are your children now?
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          2  And have they positively responded to your effort,

          3  are they helping you with your effort?

          4                 MR. MILLER: I have a son. He is 13,

          5  he'll be 14 next month, and he believes in what I'm

          6  doing. The school he goes to is a progressive

          7  Christian Academy, a black school in Macon, Georgia,

          8  and even today at this hearing, they're scheduled to

          9  have a black history program in which in his school

         10  he has been voted most Christ-like in the way he

         11  lives, so I'm very proud of him. I've always been to

         12  everything he's done, and today is the one

         13  exception.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. I'll

         15  have to send him a letter of thank you for letting

         16  you come today, all the way from Atlanta to here,

         17  and I just want to, you know, again congratulate you

         18  for all your individual efforts, and you've been a

         19  mighty rock, you just haven't been a small cup

         20  against the forest fire, you've been a mighty rock,

         21  as definitely played a major part in eliminating

         22  this word in networking with other people, and I

         23  appreciate you taking your efforts and focusing on

         24  doing whatever is necessary to eliminate usage of

         25  this word as much as possible, and anything else
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          2  that we can do to help you in our particular efforts

          3  here, as, you know, we've been inundated with so

          4  much support and good wishes and people that are

          5  expressing ideas and initiatives around things that

          6  we can do around this, and I'd like to make sure

          7  that you're included in all of those efforts.

          8                 MR. MILLER: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And if there

         10  are any other legal opportunities that can come up,

         11  then we'll definitely let you know. Thank you,

         12  again, for being here.

         13                 MR. MILLER: Thank you. I'm honored to

         14  be here. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Yes, Attorney,

         16  just a question as you raised the issue about the

         17  children and your son in school.

         18                 The educational system has the

         19  responsibility, I think, to address this issue, what

         20  would you suggest, we have here the Department of

         21  Education, where, you know, kids aren't, I hope they

         22  are called niggers in class, but they're called

         23  "little chocolate boys" and everything else in

         24  these public schools, which is synonymous with being

         25  called a nigger, but it's just a sophisticated way
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          2  when they're the only black child in a

          3  predominantly, class is predominantly white, so when

          4  they're called something else it's still the same

          5  mean-spirited way, right in New York City my son was

          6  called "chocolate," instead of a nigger. I guess had

          7  they had a little bit more gumption they would have

          8  called him that and it would have been okay. What do

          9  we do with our educational system that acts as if

         10  this doesn't exist at all?

         11                 MR. MILLER: You know, I think what

         12  you are doing is a great start.

         13                 Back in August I called black

         14  organizations, fraternities, sororities and

         15  companies to have a mark out the "N" word campaign.

         16  First of all, getting with their children, opening

         17  the dictionary and show even though it has this mean

         18  a definition we're going to mark it out, and that's

         19  going to show how much I love  you, because this was

         20  a power that I have.

         21                 I think at the same time, we want all

         22  of our children of every color and every race to

         23  have a chance to live. And have a chance that maybe

         24  we only dreamed of. And I think that by setting the

         25  example of when people see you saying no to it, that
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          2  respect you, it would make a difference, this

          3  resolution would make a great difference. I would

          4  like to see other school systems adopt a resolution

          5  like this one. I would like to see other government

          6  agencies adopt resolutions like this one. It tends

          7  to just send a message that it's not cool to come

          8  here saying the "N" word. And hopefully it will go a

          9  long ways towards showing a child that respect of

         10  everything, I think that every morning we need to

         11  wake up and we need to thank God to say it's another

         12  opportunity to earn respect.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you. We

         14  have been joined by Councilwoman Darlene Mealy from

         15  Brooklyn, who is a member of this Committee.

         16                 Certainly, I want to thank you for

         17  taking the time to come up here and testify, and the

         18  importance of it. And I think it would certainly

         19  give us tremendous fuel and energy to carry this

         20  struggle beyond, that I think that we need to begin

         21  to look at this resolution as a start but making it

         22  mandatory as a part to be put in front of every

         23  public school as the kid walked in to talk about

         24  these issues, because people in the Boards of

         25  Education never talk about this, but that's where we
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          2  hear it each and every day. And if they decided to

          3  stand out when school is out, they hear it each and

          4  every day and they pretend it doesn't happen. We

          5  never hear this. And it's the constant thing, and

          6  until we begin to deal with it on that level in an

          7  educational institution to talk about the level of

          8  toleration that will not happen, because you and I

          9  grew up in an era that if we had said it in school,

         10  we knew what would happen to us in school.

         11                 MR. MILLER: That's right. That's

         12  right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: So, I certainly

         14  want to thank you very much for being here and on

         15  behalf of the Committee.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 MR. MILLER: Thank you very much for

         18  having me here.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Mr. Chair, I

         20  just want to point out that he came up on his own,

         21  with his own resources, he spent his own money to be

         22  with us today and I want to thank him. He was

         23  successful in getting a resolution introduced in

         24  Baltimore, and as he said, he's been working hard in

         25  his own way to make a difference. And I want to
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          2  thank Mr. Attorney Roy Miller for being with us

          3  today and taking that time in your singular efforts

          4  and wish you God speed and good luck.

          5                 MR. MILLER: Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: The next

          7  witness, Mr. Patel.

          8                 MR. PATEL: Good morning.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Good morning,

         10  sir. Just state your name.

         11                 MR. PATEL: (Difficult to discern due

         12  to dialect in language.) Good morning, Council.

         13  Thank you for the opportunity. My name is

         14  Navinchandra Patel.  I am 56 years old, a proud US

         15  citizen, an electrical engineer by education, 1974,

         16  and currently working as a project manager in the

         17  civil service title of supervisor for installment

         18  and maintenance.

         19                 In spite of by best efforts,

         20  education and experience of 33 years total, 22 in US

         21  and ten years in India, I have not gotten any

         22  opportunity for advancement. I am here to report to

         23  you about the sad state of civil service in the City

         24  of New York, which 14 years that I taught loyal and

         25  hard-working civil servants.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Excuse me, sir.

          3  Are you supposed to be testifying before the Civil

          4  Service?

          5                 MR. PATEL: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Oh, no, that's

          7  in the next room.

          8                 This is Civil Rights. That's Civil

          9  Service over there. I'm sorry.

         10                 MR. PATEL: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Can the

         12  Sergeant-Of-Arms take him, and see if they're still

         13  in there. Sorry you've been waiting all this time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Sorry about

         15  that. It was all Civil. Well, anyway...

         16                 Our next witness I'm certain is in

         17  the right room, is the Borough President of Queens,

         18  the distinguished, honorable, Helen Marshall.

         19                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Okay.

         20  It's a pleasure to be here with you this morning,

         21  some of my former colleagues, and certainly to visit

         22  my old chamber. I'm sorry that it's such a topic as

         23  we're going to be discussing today.

         24                 I want to thank you, of course, for

         25  calling this hearing and providing a forum for many
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          2  in the community to speak out about the use of what

          3  is called the "N" word. Never in my wildest dreams

          4  could I have imagined that in the Year 2007 I would

          5  be testifying in front of the New York City Council

          6  on the use of the "N" word, by our youth, both

          7  black, white, Hispanic, Asian, and all of our young

          8  people in general.

          9                 In my lifetime I have seen

         10  segregation, discrimination, participate in civil

         11  rights movements, the Civil Rights Movement, perhaps

         12  the most significant social shift in America in the

         13  20th Century, and met and spoken to iconic leaders,

         14  such as Malcolm X, my neighbor in East Elmhurst, who

         15  replaced the "N" word with "black is beautiful," and

         16  Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., who spoke of

         17  love of our fellow man and led the civil rights

         18  struggle with non-violence.

         19                 There were many others who fought the

         20  fight for desegregation equal opportunity, including

         21  the grand parents and parents of many of you who now

         22  sit on the Council, representing people from every

         23  corner of the planet in the greatest City in the

         24  world.

         25                 Yet, as I say this with much sorrow
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          2  and some anger, we have missed something very

          3  important and are now witnessing the consequences.

          4  The early history of the African in America is a

          5  tragic one. The Civil War which literally divided

          6  our nation was fought over the abolishment of the

          7  institution of slavery. After the slaves were

          8  emancipated and the north won the war, the

          9  vestigates of slavery, most notably racism,

         10  persisted in every part of our American society. The

         11  most pernicious was the blatant violence associated

         12  with the Ku Klux Klan mob lynchings. I know as a

         13  child even reading, even as a young person, right up

         14  to even a mother, we had to read about lynching that

         15  was just totally unfair and terrible, devastating,

         16  all totally void of justice, and, of course, there

         17  was segregation in transportation, education,

         18  housing and certainly economic justice.

         19                 Weaved into this fabric of racism and

         20  violence was one word that always indicated that

         21  trouble was coming. This was a word reviled in the

         22  black community and used exclusively in the context

         23  of those bringing hate and danger.

         24                 I'm a native New Yorker and have

         25  lived in this multi-ethnic City my entire life. I
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          2  have witnessed each of our many nationalities have a

          3  term, a word that is derogatory towards their

          4  people, particularly among themselves and

          5  particularly when it's used to describe them by

          6  someone other than their own. As Americans and

          7  particularly New Yorkers most of us have come to

          8  know these insightful words and do not use them.

          9                 As Americans of African descent we

         10  have developed various labels to define ourselves -

         11  Negro, Afro American and black, African-American -

         12  but never among them was the "N" word.

         13                 Here we are today having to overcome

         14  so much with -- having overcome so much with a rich

         15  and textured history of accomplishments. We find not

         16  our children - but our children's children, the

         17  recipients of even greater opportunities built on

         18  many generations of both sacrifice and

         19  accomplishments, referring to each other

         20  colloquially with the worst possible word.

         21                 Some blame the music and the movies

         22  that routinely use this language and in a sense give

         23  license to its casual use. Others blame

         24  entertainers, specifically some popular comedians,

         25  both black and white, who use this word throughout
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          2  their acts.

          3                 Are our children so easily bought off

          4  by media conglomerates that they will say and do

          5  things that insult the history of their very own

          6  people's struggle?

          7                 Many of these rappers, posing as

          8  thugs, thugs? Are young men and women from

          9  middle-class families in middle-class communities.

         10  Some of the most famous and successful rappers not

         11  exclusively, though, come from Southeast Queens and

         12  Corona East Elmhurst, where I reside, areas where

         13  two of the sponsors of this resolution represent

         14  them, along with myself, and, yet, despite the hard

         15  work and example of their parents, the word is used

         16  and permeates the music. And through the music our

         17  young people pick it up. And now it is part of the

         18  culture. In fact, hip-hop music is so popular that

         19  kids from other ethnic groups, including those in

         20  the suburbs routinely use the word talking to one

         21  another.

         22                 Mr. Chairman, and members of the

         23  Committee, Civil Rights Committee, a resolution for

         24  a one-month symbolic moratorium on the use of the

         25  "N" word is not enough.
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          2                 This word should be banished

          3  completely from use in every day language, every day

          4  of the year. I will do what I can to bring this

          5  message to the communities of Queens, I've already

          6  done a lot of things to bring people together with

          7  my Queens general assembly and some other things.

          8                 Perhaps an initiative to bring more

          9  programming year round on the use of the word in

         10  black American history, and why we must not use it

         11  at all ever.

         12                 I have organized youth across our

         13  borough in a youth forum, they call themselves the

         14  Youth Board of Queens. The members are diverse,

         15  youth from each of our 14 community boards. They

         16  organized a tremendously successful conference at

         17  Queens College, which included a number of

         18  workshops. All topics and musical presentations were

         19  chosen by the members themselves.

         20                 My great confidence in our youth has

         21  definitely been confirmed. I will now ask the Youth

         22  Board to consider the "N" word topic for discussion.

         23  They are planning another conference on April 28th

         24  at LaGuardia Community College.

         25                 We must embrace our young people,
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          2  first listen to them and explain to them that this

          3  is more than just a history lesson, rather it is a

          4  referendum on self definition. The words we use to

          5  refer to ourselves and acknowledge each other

          6  reflect the pride and respect we have for our

          7  coaches, the respect we have for ourselves and one

          8  another.

          9                 Members of the Council, I close with

         10  a challenge, in which I hope you will join me. Let's

         11  call on our many talented and brilliant hip-hop

         12  artists to create an anti-"N" word song. Put a

         13  little history and pride in the lyrics. I have a

         14  feeling that it will be a best seller. Let's see who

         15  is up to the challenge.

         16                 Thank you, once again, for opening

         17  this dialogue in this great City of ours.

         18                 I have distributed buttons that were

         19  sent to me after we had our last press conference

         20  that Mr. Comrie organized, and I wanted to make sure

         21  that each of you have one of them. Okay, I have a

         22  special one for you, Leroy.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         24  much, Madam Borough President, and certainly I would

         25  hope that the challenge would be there for those who
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          2  have a desire.

          3                 You were a public school teacher, and

          4  part of the concern that we have is that a lot of

          5  this starts in schools and the kids here in

          6  playgrounds and lunchroom, and they certainly get

          7  out of school, that's where you hear quite a bit.

          8                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: How would you

         10  suggest that we deal with it? Because no one from

         11  the Board of Education has ever said that it was a

         12  problem or a concern. In fact, they might say they

         13  never heard any of the kids use it. So, maybe you

         14  can kind of talk to us a little bit about it.

         15                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Well, I

         16  think you're underestimating the situation in our

         17  schools. Yes, the teachers have heard them say it.

         18  Okay. And I'm sure that those who have heard it put

         19  in confidence with them that they have dealt with

         20  it. But it's part of the culture, so if they don't

         21  say it in school, they'll say it elsewhere.

         22                 A gentleman after our last press

         23  conference, in fact a number of the people have

         24  approached me, Leroy, since your press conference,

         25  and this man said I know what you mean Ms. Marshall.
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          2  He said, I'm sitting on the train and there's kids

          3  coming up, that's all that he heard the whole time.

          4  He had to get up and go into another car, it was so

          5  disgusting and the way that they're using it, it's

          6  just ordinary.

          7                 I think that definitely the schools

          8  need to deal with it because that's where the

          9  children gather. That's where the children gather.

         10  Particularly on the intermediate level and on the

         11  high school level, but even Helen Sears, her little

         12  grandson is neigh high, about six or seven years

         13  old, and he said, "Grandma, what does the "N" word

         14  mean?" And he didn't say"N" word. She was devastated

         15  to hear that. I know her and I know her history. I

         16  was a teacher for both of her boys. That boy's

         17  father, I was his teacher.

         18                 So, yes, the schools are definitely a

         19  place that can deal with this. They can organize

         20  discussion groups, they can do many things to help

         21  children to understand that this is not a word that

         22  you use.

         23                 But I am asking Leroy and myself,

         24  let's get together with some of these brilliant guys

         25  who are making Baku money on hip-hop, and let's see
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          2  if we can get them to do an anti-"N" word song. A

          3  little history, a little substance to it, too. I

          4  think they would be doing a great service to the

          5  young people. And you had a great rap artist there

          6  with us at your press conference, he says he doesn't

          7  use it. We've got to get to the kids through their

          8  channels.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I agree with

         10  you, Madam Borough President. I'm sure that we will

         11  together issue that joint challenge.

         12                 You know, original hip-hop, they

         13  never used that word, and it was progenitors of

         14  hip-hop and founders and people that started the

         15  whole movement back in the seventies didn't use the

         16  word. It wasn't until the later eighties that the

         17  word started to be used in hip-hop and we are going

         18  to be working on that as well with all of the

         19  support that we've gotten from people that have

         20  reached out to us.

         21                 But I want to thank you for your

         22  consistent support since you found out about the

         23  resolution, and I want to thank you for being here

         24  today and bringing us the history and reminding us

         25  that it's not just an issue that we need to talk
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          2  about from history level, it's an issue on

          3  self-definition, as you called it. You know, the

          4  words that we do use to refer to each other define

          5  us, even if we don't understand, and some people

          6  that, the young people that don't understand it

          7  being defined by the words they use, but are truly

          8  being defined and being labeled by the words that

          9  are used and being reclassified by the words they

         10  use, and it's important that we get to them so that

         11  they can understand that they need to have more

         12  respect for theirselves (sic), more respect for the

         13  people around them, and especially more respect for

         14  the history that have allowed them to be in the

         15  place where they can do the things that they can do

         16  and be the people that they can be.

         17                 You know, it's a challenge to reach

         18  out, but I think that we have the ability. Some many

         19  people have been seething quietly about this and

         20  sitting on subways and sitting in classrooms and

         21  dealing with this whole thing, you know, it's

         22  important that we do have a lot of other things to

         23  take care of in the City, but trying to save our

         24  children is important, as well. So, I want to thank

         25  you for being here.
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: We will

          3  be the ancestors and they will inherit the earth and

          4  it's important that we leave it in good shape.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 We have one last person and then

          9  we're going to vote this resolution real quick. Tim

         10  Gaylord.

         11                 MR. GAYLORD: First thing is, it's an

         12  honor to be here, in front of all the Council here.

         13  It's also an honor to be in front of Councilman

         14  Leroy Comrie, because what Councilman Comrie has

         15  done, by bringing this up in the City of New York,

         16  he is actually taking something that is the most

         17  critical thing we can do at this time. The "N" word

         18  is not just a word, okay? The "N" word involves a

         19  history.

         20                 Let me introduce myself. My name is

         21  Tim Gaylord, and I'm the gentleman that initiated

         22  the resolution on the "N" word in Irvington, New

         23  Jersey, on January the 9th.

         24                 Also in that resolution was the

         25  concept of black people's independence day, because
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          2  I'm also a teacher, a certified teacher. Right now

          3  I'm a substitute, because I need time to think and

          4  write. And in the school system, number one, that's

          5  all you hear is "N" "N" "N" "N," all right? So of

          6  course that's been bugging me.

          7                 But also the children, you see, a

          8  person's soul is not just a spiritual essence

          9  somewhere, the soul is in your history, your

         10  culture, your language, your tradition, those were

         11  taken from us, all right?

         12                 We were brought over here on slave

         13  ships, enslaved. Not just enslaved - dehumanized.

         14  People came over here -- when the white man went to

         15  Africa, there was no niggers in Africa. Not one.

         16  There was Molians (phonetic), there was Nigerians,

         17  there was Mandingos, there was Filani (phonetic),

         18  there was Filashes (phonetic), there was all the

         19  different nations, there wasn't no niggers over

         20  there. They didn't come then til they got on the

         21  slave ship, and all you gotta do is watch the movie

         22  Roots.  They bring them back over here.

         23                 Now, when they get us over here, all

         24  of a sudden, no more Molians, no more Mandingos, no

         25  more Nigerians. Wouldn't even allow them to stay
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          2  together on the slave ships, because they might do

          3  something together, if they talk together to one

          4  another.

          5                 So, now they're here. They have no

          6  name anymore. No more Nigerians, no Molians, no

          7  Ughandas, no Guyanians. What we gonna do? What we

          8  gonna call 'em? Let's call 'em niggers. And let's

          9  give 'em a personality to go with it.

         10                 In the movie Roots there's a scene

         11  where they're taking our culture and our history

         12  from us. They're taking our souls from us. And

         13  they're beating the brother and saying, man, your

         14  name is Toby. This is a symbolic scene. This scene

         15  is very powerful. They beat the brother, he said,

         16  no, my name is Kunta Kintae (phonetic). I'm a

         17  Mandingo. No, your name is Toby. And y'all remember

         18  that white man was beating him, right? No, wasn't

         19  the white man beating him. It was a black man

         20  beating him. The black man was the creation of the

         21  white man in this country, his slave which we now

         22  call "Uncle Tom." The Uncle Tom is the stand-in, you

         23  see he's the token. He's the replacement for the

         24  white man.

         25                 I get very deep here, but don't y'all
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          2  get mad at me, all right?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Just don't be

          4  too long. But it's okay.

          5                 MR. GAYLORD: Oh, well, see I was

          6  taking my time. Everybody else took so long, I

          7  figured all right. I was prepared to talk two or

          8  three minutes, you know, and just hit it real fast.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: All right. Go

         10  ahead.

         11                 MR. GAYLORD: All right, but that's

         12  the origin of the word. Not just a word. A

         13  personality that was inflicted to people while he

         14  was beating Kunta Kintae (phonetic). Big strong men

         15  like me, Brother Leroy, yourself, we were standing

         16  around watching, watching our brother get beat. What

         17  did we do? Nothing. Stood there and watched.

         18                 And this is very difficult to

         19  understand because talking about things that we're

         20  not taught in school - anthropology, culture,

         21  socialization. So somewhere somebody wrote a book

         22  called The Willy Lynch Letter. If you have not read

         23  that Willy Lynch Letter, it's to understand how

         24  we've been walking around shooting and killing

         25  ourselves, how we can go to school, brand new
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          2  school, nice beautiful school, so kids go in there

          3  and can't learn anything because, you see the nigger

          4  was socialized to think that he was inferior. Most

          5  critically inferior in intelligence. "You are dumb."

          6  Well, we had to be dumb, you wouldn't let us read

          7  and write. Couldn't go to school. Right, you didn't

          8  say that. You said you're dumb by nature.

          9                 Then when slavery ended, we still got

         10  the worst schools, all right? My mother went to a

         11  school to sixth grade, and I went to the same

         12  school, in the summertime. It had a one-room,

         13  partitioned off. First, second, third, fourth grade,

         14  one teacher, fifth, sixth, seventh, eighth grade,

         15  one teacher. Old school, old books, and no sense of

         16  you even getting a good education 'cause you

         17  couldn't get a job doing anything but pickin (sic)

         18  cotton anyway.

         19                 So, my father went to the eighth, my

         20  mother went to the sixth. That's the type of

         21  education they had. But they knew that it was

         22  important, so they saved their little money. When my

         23  father came back, he was working as a busboy in

         24  Chatham, New Jersey. My mother was a maid, cleaning

         25  white folks' houses, the toilets, all of that.
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          2  Saving every dime so they could send me to college,

          3  because I wasn't smart enough to get a scholarship.

          4  They paid for it and I went.

          5                 But still I had this thing in my head

          6  - "nigger" "nigger" - well, niggers, they don't do

          7  good in school, so I barely finished college. In

          8  college niggers get high. So, I'm drinking liquor.

          9  Come out of college, all my friends is on drugs.

         10  That's what niggers do. We take drugs. We get high.

         11  We sell drugs. We form gangs. We beat each other up.

         12                 So, you see, what brother Comrie has

         13  done is opened this up, all right? It's not just

         14  about kids feeling good, all right? No, no. This

         15  goes down to self concept. So that our children,

         16  when they go to school, they going to school

         17  thinking, hey, I'm not supposed to make honor roll.

         18  That's what kids out in the suburbs do. We get low

         19  scores on these tests all the time because we're

         20  supposed to.

         21                 And I asked them, see, I'm a

         22  substitute, I go around to all schools in Irvington,

         23  New Jersey, I asked them, I said, "You think those

         24  kids out in the suburbs are smarter than you?" I

         25  never said white, because white is the politically
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          2  incorrect. You're not supposed to say it. Captain

          3  Smiley (phonetic) just had a program, morning,

          4  afternoon, I don't think I heard the word "white"

          5  once, but you want to talk about the state of black

          6  America? How you going to do that? Even my brother.

          7                 Anyway, so you see, you can socialize

          8  a person, and this is the whole purpose of it, the

          9  whole purpose of the socialization process of black

         10  folk is to create the perfect slave, you see.

         11                 Now, back in those days, that Uncle

         12  Tom, he was just a guy able to do your stuff for

         13  you, whatever. A bad slave is the type like Kunta

         14  who run away. So you cut his foot off. That ain't

         15  all they cut off in real life. Y'all know that. You

         16  know what else they were cutting off.

         17                 But they wanted to create a good

         18  slave, perhaps the concept of a perfect slave. But

         19  you see, over a period of time I wrote a book called

         20  Let's Make A Slave: The Willy Lynch Conspiracy

         21  'cause you can read the Willy Lynch Letter and if

         22  you don't have this book to guide you through, it

         23  won't mean nothing. You'll say that was a bad book,

         24  but, you know, that's all, it will just go right

         25  here. 'Cause you see, the lynching now is
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          2  psychological. We have been through the physical

          3  lynchings, reconstruction, all right? And even after

          4  reconstruction, all right, the Ku Klux Klan

          5  mentioned. Now the police are the lynchers and now

          6  most importantly we are ourselves the lynchers -

          7  shootin and killin each other every day (sic).

          8                 All these people running for

          9  political parties, political office, 3,000 people

         10  killed in the World Trade Center, that's a tragedy.

         11  New York averages about 500 murders a year. Ten

         12  years, that's 5,000.

         13                 United States of America averages

         14  between ten and 15,000 murders a year. Half black,

         15  half white. Take the low figure. Last ten years,

         16  that's 15,000 black people murdered. Ain't nobody

         17  saying nothing about it. Why? Because it's just

         18  niggers. You see, it's not just a word. I came over

         19  from East Orange, New Jersey. I had to take the

         20  train. The doors are half off the hinges, the

         21  streets around the station is raggedy and rundown. I

         22  tell the people, I say, now, I'm from Morristown

         23  originally. Go out there to that train station, see

         24  what it's like out there in the suburbs. The reason

         25  this station is like this is because it's the
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          2  station for niggers. You see?

          3                 The drop-out rate in the schools -

          4  30, 40, 50, 60 percent and more. Hey, these schools

          5  gotta be shut down. Ain't nobody care 'cause it's

          6  just us.

          7                 See, you have to stop thinking of

          8  things the way they are, you gotta come out of that

          9  Willy Lynch Slave mentality, and you have to look at

         10  things from a Willy Lynch perspective. You say, oh,

         11  the schools are doing exactly what they're supposed

         12  to do. This is why the many black people drop out.

         13  Then they won't go to college. The worst thing for

         14  black man to do is go to college. He might get smart

         15  there. Jesus Christ, what if Malcolm X had gone to

         16  college and remained Malcolm X? Wow.

         17                 So, the whole system, even though

         18  it's 2007, the original seed that grew this present

         19  child is still doing the same thing, just more

         20  sophisticated. So, instead of having a slave who

         21  don't get paid, now he gets 100,000, 200,000 dollars

         22  a year to run a university division. But he don't

         23  ever mention Willy Lynch. He never mentions another

         24  man name Amos Wilson. Amos Wilson wrote a book

         25  called Black On Black Violence, black
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          2  self-annihilation in service of white domination.

          3  It's a brilliant book, but nobody reads it. And the

          4  title simply means that black people are killing

          5  each other to make white folks happy. Read it. Deal

          6  with it, all right?

          7                 So, I'm over here to support Leroy,

          8  and this, and now that we can expand the concept

          9  beyond feelings, all right? This is a social

         10  phenomena that has to be dealt with. You want to

         11  change the public school, you can change it, all

         12  right? Within this book there is a concept or idea

         13  to change the public school system. Not just a few

         14  kids, we can change the whole thing, all right?

         15                 So, I've written these two. I'm

         16  coming out with another one that's more explicit

         17  with the "N" word. This shows black folks how to be

         18  successful. It tells -- you want me to be quiet, Mr.

         19  Seabrook?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, the thing

         21  is we've got to vote on the resolution.

         22                 MR. GAYLORD: Okay. All right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: So, we're

         24  waiting on the vote. But I got your point.

         25                 MR. GAYLORD: At another time. Maybe
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          2  we'll be able to get together somewhere and have

          3  some type of town hall thing on this word with the

          4  members of the community, the public school teachers

          5  and whatnot, and let's stop playing around, and

          6  let's stop playing the whipping boy, the token, the

          7  Uncle Tom, carrying on stuff for people in 2007,

          8  just like the slave did back there in --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, I

         10  certainly agree that there should be a forum and we

         11  will do that, and with all of the people, the

         12  educators, Department of Education, the children,

         13  and everyone else, and we certainly will be

         14  extending an invitation to participate in that.

         15                 MR. GAYLORD: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Because I

         17  understand where you're coming from. As they say, I

         18  feel you, brother.

         19                 MR. GAYLORD: Somebody gotta bring it

         20  out, somebody gotta say it. Me.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I feel you.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 MR. GAYLORD: You're welcome.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: We've also been

         25  joined -- oh, are there any questions? Oh, I'm
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          2  sorry.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I just wanted

          4  to make a statement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Oh, a

          6  statement. Okay. Go ahead.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: We have to

          8  start thinking about the schools teaching our

          9  history to our children. How Columbus discovered

         10  America, but our children are not learning about the

         11  Panthers, in which Panthers wasn't all that bad.

         12  They had programs. They fed their community. Before

         13  they would call the police, they would say I'm

         14  calling the Black Panthers on you. So, there was a

         15  community involvement just as well. So, we have to

         16  start thinking about having it in our schools, black

         17  history, each and every one of our kids, where they

         18  came from, and where they need to go. And before we

         19  do that, we have to teach it in the schools. That's

         20  the only way we can really get our point across.

         21  Because right now, I remember back in the days they

         22  used to say, hi, my sister, my brother, and now I'm

         23  doing that to my brothers and sisters now. I say,

         24  hi, my King, hi, my Queen, how are you doing? To

         25  make sure they know who they are, know what heritage
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          2  they come from. And we were proud people, so I know

          3  that if they teach in the schools from the

          4  beginning, we know where we're going. So, I just

          5  hope that that can be, and I'm glad you're here

          6  today, to bring out some of the things that people

          7  don't talk about.

          8                 MR. GAYLORD: (Not using microphone).

          9  We authorized the Declaration of April 9th, 1865 as

         10  Americans of African Ancestry Independence Day. In

         11  the spirit of this occasion, we also ask people to

         12  refrain from using the "N" word.

         13                 Now, just that alone will force the

         14  schools to start dealing with our history. Because

         15  the reason I brought that up with the Mayor of

         16  Irvington, I said the children don't know the most

         17  important date in their history. He said, well, what

         18  is it? I said, April 9th, 1865, the date the Civil

         19  War ended. I said, my brother, if the south had won

         20  the war, you would not be the Mayor now, I wouldn't

         21  be here now, we'd be somewhere chopping cotton,

         22  somewhere down south probably. So, I said, would you

         23  ask the City Council to put that in the resolution

         24  too?

         25                 Now, of course, when this is done,
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          2  Irvington is going to have an Independence

          3  Celebration Day in April, and we're asking, we're

          4  going to ask Brother Comrie also sponsor that, all

          5  right? That New York will pass a resolution for the

          6  April 9th, 1865 Independence Day for us. Because our

          7  children now will have to go back and say April 9th,

          8  1861, what happened before? What happened after? All

          9  right? How did we get to this state that we're? So,

         10  it will force the schools to now begin to deal with

         11  our history and give our children -- when I ask the

         12  children when did the Civil War end they tell me

         13  1965. 1950, when Martin Luther King named it, no

         14  idea of historical facts. None. Because, of course,

         15  in a society that's -- I can't say racist, because

         16  there ain't no more racism in America, the way I

         17  understand. So, I'll just call it Willy Lynch's

         18  world, all right? We're not supposed to. You see?

         19  You gotta keep us just like a slave there, you still

         20  gotta keep us as dumb as possible, then we're easy

         21  to control. And I can tell you all, people, listen,

         22  we aren't in a residence rioting or doing -- all we

         23  want is to stop our children from shooting and

         24  killing each other. We want them to go to school and

         25  be honor roll students, and not just think the boys
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          2  are muscle, I can jump high, I can run fast, but I

          3  ain't got no brains. That's what we want. We'll

          4  change the ghettos and all of that stuff by

          5  ourselves. You don't have to give us no money.

          6  Unless you wanted to make some money for the

          7  reparations that have been done to us. 'Cause we

          8  suffered the worst dehumanization --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: We have a bill

         10  for that coming up.

         11                 MR. GAYLORD: All right, brother.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay.

         13                 MR. GAYLORD: So you call me up.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right, so we're

         15  dealing with that.

         16                 I've been joined by two other members

         17  of the Committee, Councilman Bill DeBlasio from

         18  Brooklyn, and Councilman Hiram Monserrate from

         19  Queens, and we're going to vote on this Resolution.

         20  Although, the Resolution is not just for the month

         21  of Black History --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Anymore.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: -- Anymore.

         24  It's beyond that. It's everyday.

         25                 So, we're going to call the roll.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          3  Seabrook.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I'm going to

          5  pass until the end.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          7  Nelson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Aye.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         10  DeBlasio.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: With thanks

         12  to Chair Seabrook and Council Member Comrie, I vote

         13  aye.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         15  Monserrate.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Permission

         17  to explain my vote, Mr. Chair?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: First and

         20  foremost, I just want to acknowledge the leadership

         21  of my colleague and the Chair of the Queens Council

         22  Delegation, Leroy Comrie, for his vision on this

         23  issue, and for really bringing more attention to

         24  this issue. I commend you, Leroy.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: For the

          3  fine work you have done and the co-sponsors. I want

          4  to be noted also as a co-sponsor. I am a co-sponsor

          5  of this resolution. Also, I want to give a warm

          6  welcome to the Borough Presiding of Queens who is

          7  with us today, Helen Marshall. In her own right, a

          8  historic trail blazer. And I've had the honor and

          9  distinction of succeeding her in the City Council.

         10  I'm actually her Council member, and I'm very happy

         11  that she's here, and I'm very proud that she

         12  participated. I think it means a lot when someone

         13  like Helen Marshall comes to these chambers and

         14  speak about their own personal experiences and

         15  enrich this discussion.

         16                 So, I proudly vote aye, and I look

         17  forward to working with my colleagues to put the

         18  pedal to the metal on the issue.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         21  Mealy.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I vote aye.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         24  Seabrook.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Yes, to explain
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          2  my vote. I want to thank Leroy Comrie. When Leroy

          3  came to me and asked me about being on this

          4  Resolution I said I'd like some thoughts as to

          5  things I'd like to check out, so I did not go on it,

          6  but I wanted to have the opportunity to have this

          7  hearing. And I say that because I have always felt

          8  that having the experience of growing up in a

          9  segregated society, a segregated America, and being

         10  a part of it and my father used to always say that,

         11  you know, it was nine of us and he would say that,

         12  you know, I never worry, because if a white man ever

         13  slipped and called any of them a nigger, I know

         14  seven of them at least is going to act accordingly,

         15  and that they're going to respond and deal with it

         16  so you're in all of that. So, I never felt that we

         17  had to have a resolution, because I always felt that

         18  if you said it, the response would be, and it would

         19  be a dead issue, and I thought it was a dead issue.

         20                 But I had the opportunity, Leroy, for

         21  the last -- when you asked me, I went around a lot

         22  of schools, and just walking around, never saying

         23  who I was, and hearing the kids, and then I went to

         24  -- there was predominantly white kids, and I heard

         25  them saying it to other white kids, and that's what,
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          2  you know, amazed me and the response that I had, and

          3  I said that it's not being dealt with in the schools

          4  at all, and to hear it and hear the kids, so I said

          5  there is something, this is not the end-all, there

          6  has to be something else that we have to begin to

          7  deal with it on a different level.

          8                 But I think it's important for the

          9  argument and to bring it, you know, if you've got

         10  cancer you want to know it so you can cut it out.

         11  You don't want to hide it, then you're dead and it's

         12  done. So, you've got to deal with it, and I think

         13  most people will say, you know, we don't, nobody

         14  says that here we don't use that, and we don't do

         15  that, and that's not ever said at home - and it is.

         16  And I think it needs to be addressed, it needs to be

         17  dealt with again to solve the problem.

         18                 And I think here this morning, as it

         19  relates to the children, because you've got to be

         20  taught this and so the children hear this and see it

         21  and it develops, as you say, a mentality and a

         22  socialization, and it reminded me of about a year

         23  ago when an incident took place in Williamsburg, and

         24  it was an Orthodox Jewish man who was arrested by

         25  the police, and the term, it took place in the Crown

                                                            85

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  Heights section, I think it was, and I was reading

          3  the newspaper article, and the police officer said

          4  "We're going to treat you like a nigger." Then I

          5  realized it was more than a color. It was treatment.

          6  More to do than color.

          7                 So, I think addressing it and how we

          8  address it is important so that people understand

          9  that it's a condition, and treatment. And, you know,

         10  Bob Dylan had a song 30 years ago, I'm dating

         11  myself, niggers -- Women are the Nigger of the

         12  World, and the treatment, it's about treatment. And,

         13  so, we have to address these issues, and it's

         14  important, Leroy, and I want to thank you for doing

         15  that.

         16                 And I have done the research to look

         17  and see that it's something that we have to deal

         18  with, with a historical perspective and

         19  understanding it, and understanding the history of

         20  how it came about, and making it a part of a level

         21  of we do not tolerate it, but understand it.

         22                 And, so, with the opportunity to do

         23  that, I would hope that Stanley Crouch, and others

         24  who have written about it, will write something in

         25  their newspapers about this, and why they used the
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          2  word from a historical perspective. They all had

          3  books, and they made a lot of money off of these

          4  things and they used these words, and I think that

          5  it's important that we do that and address it and

          6  don't pretend that it doesn't exist, because the

          7  minute we leave out of here, somebody is going to go

          8  to the Board of Education and they're going to say,

          9  oh, we don't ever hear that. That word is never

         10  used, and we will deal with that.

         11                 But I tell everybody, just go and

         12  stand when school is out at 3:10 today, you will

         13  hear that word in every high school and every junior

         14  high school. Just stand there, you will listen to

         15  it, and it's not -- the way that they're saying it

         16  so loosely, and on the bus, on the train, and it's

         17  there, and I think the importance of it.

         18                 So, I certainly want to join you,

         19  and, Leroy, I will be on the Resolution in full

         20  support of it. So, I vote aye.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Proposed

         22  Resolution Number 693-A passes by a vote of five in

         23  the affirmative, zero in the negative, zero

         24  abstentions.

         25                 Council Members, please remember to
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          2  sign the report.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Mr. Chair,

          4  just before we close, I want to thank you for your

          5  thoughtfulness on this Resolution.

          6                 I want to thank all of the Committee

          7  members for voting affirmatively on the Resolution.

          8  And I want to thank my staff and all of the people

          9  that helped me put this together today, and I really

         10  appreciate everyone's effort, but I just wanted to

         11  talk to my interns, they read all of the essays,

         12  Samantha Sidotis (phonetic), Chris Buckingham, Kelly

         13  James, Guy Colon and Marielle Ellis, and all of the

         14  people that have outreached to use during this

         15  particular month to talk about their educational

         16  efforts, one of the things that the Resolution has

         17  done is really spurred conversation, and that's what

         18  we really have done.

         19                 I just want to remind everyone that

         20  we did drop the part of the Resolution that said "in

         21  the month of February" that they voted on today, and

         22  it's a Resolution just calling to declare a symbolic

         23  moratorium on the use of the "N" word in New York

         24  City, period. And I want to thank all for being here

         25  today. Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And thank you

          3  all, and thank you very much for being here. This

          4  hearing is adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:20 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.
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         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.
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         18  set my hand this 26th day of February 2007.
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